S277487

No. S _____

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
Plaintiff and Respondent,
v.
TONY HARDIN,
Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Seven, Case No. B315434
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. A893110
The Honorable Juan Carlos Dominguez, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)
Chief Assistant Attorney General
SUSAN SULLIVAN PITHEY (SBN 180166)
Senior Assistant Attorney General
IDAN IVRI (SBN 260354)
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
*NIMA RAZFAR (SBN 253410)
Deputy Attorney General
300 South Spring Street, Suite 1702

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Penal Code section 3051, subdivision (h), violate the Equal Protection Clause of Fourteenth Amendment by excluding young adults sentenced to life without the possibility of parole from youth offender parole consideration, while young adults sentenced to parole-eligible terms are entitled to such consideration?

LEGAL BACKGROUND

Penal Code section 3051¹ was enacted in 2014 in response to decisions by this Court and the United States Supreme Court recognizing constitutional limits on sentences for juvenile

¹ All undesignated statutory citations are to the Penal Code.

offenders. (Stats. 2013, ch. 312, § 1.)² Section 3051 established the “youth offender parole hearing” regime, under which some juvenile and young adult offenders originally sentenced to life terms are afforded an opportunity at parole. (Stats. 2013, ch. 312, § 4.) The regime is premised on the recognition that relatively few adolescents who commit crimes develop entrenched patterns of problem behavior, and that they might become contributing members of society after they have developed neurologically into adults with better impulse control. (Stats. 2013, ch. 312, § 1.)

Section 3051 gives eligible offenders the opportunity for parole at set intervals depending on their sentences and how old they were when they committed their crimes. The opportunity is available after 25 years for those serving an indeterminate sentence of 25 years to life (§ 3051, subds. (b)(3)); after 20 years for those serving an indeterminate sentence shorter than 25 years to life (§ 3051, subd. (b)(2)); and after 15 years for those serving a determinate term (§ 3051, subd. (b)(1)). Initially, the law applied only to juveniles—those who were under 18 years of age at the time they committed their crimes—but the Legislature

² See *Graham v. Florida* (2010) 560 U.S. 48, 82 [federal Constitution prohibits sentence of life without parole for juvenile non-homicide offenders], *Miller v. Alabama* (2012) 567 U.S. 460, 489 [federal Constitution prohibits mandatory sentence of life without parole for juvenile homicide offenders]; *People v. Caballero* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 262, 265 [*Graham* applies to aggregate term-of-years sentence that is functional equivalent of life without parole].

later extended the regime to young adult offenders who were under 23 years-old, and then to those who were under 26, at the time of their crimes. (§ 3051 [added by Stats. 2013, ch. 312, § 4; amended by Stats. 2015, ch. 471, § 1; amended by Stats. 2017, ch. 675, § 1].)

The regime does not extend, however, to young adults serving life-without-parole terms. (§ 3051, subd. (h).) The only prisoners serving life-without-parole sentences who are entitled to a youth offender parole hearing are those who committed their offenses when they were less than 18 years old; they are eligible for a hearing after 25 years. (§ 3051, subds. (b)(4).) The regime also does not extend to young adult offenders who are sentenced under the Three Strikes Law (§§ 1170.12, subds. (b)-(i)) or the One Strike Law (§ 667.61), or who commit an additional crime, after reaching the age of 26, that either requires malice or for which the offender is sentenced to life in prison. (§ 3051, subd. (h).)

At a youth offender parole hearing, the Board of Parole Hearings must consider the offender's growth and maturity based on, among other things, psychological evaluations and input from friends and family. (§§ 3051, subd. (f); 4801, subd. (c).) This Court has held that, to ensure relevant evidence is not lost between the conviction and the parole hearing, eligible offenders may move at sentencing, or by a post-judgment motion under section 1203.01, to place on the record any evidence that may be relevant at an eventual youth offender parole hearing. (*In re*

Cook (2019) 7 Cal.5th 439, 458-459; *People v. Franklin* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 261, 283-284.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Hardin's trial and first appeal

Hardin was 25 years old in 1989 when he killed a neighbor while stealing personal belongings from her apartment and car. (Opn. 5.) In 1990, he was convicted of first degree murder (§ 187, subd. (a)), first degree residential robbery (§ 211), and grand theft of an automobile (§ 487, subd. (3)). (Opn. 5.) The jury found true a special circumstance allegation that the murder occurred during the commission of a robbery (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(17)), as well as an allegation that Hardin inflicted great bodily injury upon a person aged 60 years or older (§ 1203.09, subd. (a)). (Opn. 5.) Based on the special circumstance finding, the trial court sentenced Hardin to life without parole. (Opn. 5-6.) The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment. (Opn. 6; *People v. Hardin* (July, 19, 1993, B051873) [nonpub. opn.])

B. Hardin's post-judgment motion and the appeal below

In 2021, Hardin filed a post-judgment "*Franklin*" motion to develop and preserve evidence for a youth offender parole hearing. (Opn. 6; see *Franklin, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at pp. 283-284; see also *Cook, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at pp. 458-459.) He recognized that, as an adult sentenced to life without parole, he is statutorily excluded from the youth offender parole regime. But he argued that section 3051, subdivision (h), violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by excluding adult offenders convicted of murder with a special circumstance and

sentenced to life without parole, while including adult offenders convicted of first degree murder with parole-eligible life sentences. (Opn. 6.) The superior court rejected Hardin’s constitutional argument and denied his *Franklin* motion on the basis that Hardin is statutorily excluded from the youth offender parole regime. (Opn. 6.)

On appeal, Hardin again argued that section 3051 violates principles of equal protection by denying youth offender parole hearings to those serving life-without-parole based on special-circumstance murder but permitting such hearings for those sentenced to an indeterminate life term based on a non-special-circumstance murder conviction. (Opn. 13.) The Court of Appeal agreed and reversed. (Opn. 13-25.)

The Court of Appeal began by setting out the two-part test governing equal protection claims, which asks whether the state has adopted a classification that treats two or more similarly situated groups differently, and, if so, whether the state can adequately justify the disparate treatment. (Opn. 11-14.) The court explained that different levels of judicial scrutiny can apply to the state’s justification, depending on the nature of the classification, but it observed that Hardin’s claim “[e]ffectively conceded[es]” that the applicable standard here is whether the state can show a rational basis for the distinction. (Opn. 12, 14.)

The court held that the two classes of young adult offenders identified by Hardin are similarly situated for purposes of section 3051, which is designed to account for the attributes of youth that might influence youthful offenders to commit crime. (Opn. 17-

18.) It reasoned that, viewed in light of the statute’s purpose, all of these youthful offenders committed their crimes when they might not have been cognitively mature. (Opn. 18-19.)

The court then held that there is no rational basis for treating the two classes differently. The court acknowledged that rational basis review is highly deferential, but reasoned that there is “no plausible basis” to distinguish between same-age offenders based solely on the crime they committed when the purpose of the law is to consider maturity and impulse control. (Opn. 19.)³ Comparing parole-eligible and life-without-parole offenses, the court stated that “[t]he potential for growth and rehabilitation is no greater for the 19-year-old offender who committed a robbery one day and an unrelated premeditated murder the next, for example, than for the 19-year-old offender who killed his or her victim during the robbery, a homicide offense that does not necessarily require proof of actual malice.” (Opn. 20.)

The court further reasoned that, for purposes of identifying “the diminished culpability of youthful offenders based on their stage of cognitive development,” there is no rational basis for distinguishing between “technically parole-eligible” crimes serious enough to carry terms greater than a defendant’s possible

³ In contrast, the Court of Appeal held that section 3051’s differing treatment of juvenile and young adult offenders does not violate equal protection. Because these two groups differ in age, it reasoned that there is a rational basis to treat them differently when it comes to considering mental maturity. (Opn. 15-16.)

lifespan (for which youth offender parole hearings are permitted), and factually similar life-without-parole crimes (for which youth offender parole hearings are not available). (Opn. 21-22.) And the court asserted that any legislatively recognized distinction between the two groups would be illusory in any event. It pointed to research showing that 95 percent of first degree murder cases could be charged as special circumstance murder, “leaving the decision whether a life without parole sentence may be imposed to the discretion of local prosecutors, rather than a matter of statewide policy.” (Opn. 22.)

Finally, the court concluded that the legislative classification could not survive Hardin’s equal protection challenge on the basis that it is merely an imperfect fit between means and ends. The court reasoned that, instead, “the exclusion of young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole was a deliberate and focused choice, not an inadvertent consequence of broadly worded legislation.” (Opn. 23-24.) And it rejected the argument that the challenged classifications are constitutionally permissible because they simply reflect an incremental attempt to address a perceived problem, similar to the Legislature’s extension of section 3051 over time to different age groups. It held that, in such an instance, “there still must be some rational basis for the choices made,” something that it found absent here. (Opn. 24-25.)

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I. THIS CASE SHOULD BE HELD BEHIND *PEOPLE V. WILLIAMS*

In *People v. Williams* (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 475, review granted July 22, 2020, S262229, this Court will decide a similar equal protection question stemming from section 3051: “Does Penal Code section 3051, subdivision (h), violate the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by excluding young adults convicted and sentenced for serious sex crimes under the One Strike law (Pen. Code, § 667.61) from youth offender parole consideration, while young adults convicted of first degree murder are entitled to such consideration?”

This Court’s resolution of *Williams* will require it to identify the relevant equal protection principles and apply them in the context of section 3051 and its regime for youth offender parole hearings. To be sure, Hardin’s claim potentially implicates distinct justifications for the different categories of offenders that are at issue here. But this Court’s equal protection analysis in *Williams* could provide useful guidance for efficiently resolving the issue in this case, either on transfer back to the Court of Appeal or in briefing before this Court. The People therefore ask that the Court grant review and hold this case behind *Williams*. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.512(d)(2).)

II. ALTERNATIVELY, THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW AND RESOLVE AN IMPORTANT ISSUE THAT HAS PRODUCED A CONFLICT IN PUBLISHED AUTHORITY

If the Court were disinclined to hold this case behind *Williams*, it should grant review and conduct plenary review of the issue decided by the Court of Appeal below.

There is a square conflict between the Court of Appeal’s decision and numerous other published decisions holding that section 3051’s exclusion of young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole does not violate equal protection. (*People v. Sands* (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 193, 204-205; *People v. Morales* (2021) 67 Cal.App.5th 326, 347-349; *In re Murray* (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 456, 463-465; *People v. Jackson* (2021) 61 Cal.App.5th 189, 199-200; *People v. Acosta* (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 769, 779-781; *In re Williams* (2020) 57 Cal.App.5th 427, 436.) The Court of Appeal below recognized the conflict and expressly disagreed with the opposing views of other courts. (Opn. 20-21, citing *Sands, supra*, 70 Cal.App.5th at p. 205, *In re Williams, supra*, 57 Cal.App.5th at p. 436, and *Acosta, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th at p. 780.)

As the court below observed, decisions reaching the opposite result “focused on the Legislature’s prerogative to distinguish crimes by degree of severity and assign them different punishments based on its view of the crimes’ comparative gravity and on policy objectives like deterrence, retribution, and incapacitation.” (Opn. 20, internal quotation marks omitted.) For example, the decision in *In re Williams* observed that section 3051’s “legislative history suggests the Legislature was motivated by dual concerns: that lengthy life sentences did not adequately account for, first, the diminished culpability of youth, and second, youthful offenders’ greater potential for rehabilitation and maturation.” (*In re Williams, supra*, 57 Cal.App.5th at p. 434.) The court was “inclined to agree” with the defendant that young adults sentenced to life without parole and those serving parole-

eligible terms are similarly situated with respect to the Legislature's first goal, but it disagreed that the groups are similarly situated with respect to the second. (*Id.* at p. 435.) The court reasoned that “[w]hile a 21-year-old *special circumstance* murderer may, in fact, have diminished culpability compared with a 28 year old who commits the same crime, he is nonetheless *more* culpable and has committed a more serious crime than a 21-year old convicted of a *nonspecial circumstance* murder.” (*Ibid.*, italics in original.) Further, even assuming the latter two groups are similarly situated for both purposes, *In re Williams* held that the Legislature had a rational basis for treating them differently based on the severity of the crimes for which a sentence of life without parole is reserved. (*Id.* at p. 436.) The court in *Jackson* followed the same reasoning. (*Jackson, supra*, 61 Cal.App.5th at pp. 199-200.)

The court in *Acosta* concluded that the two classes of young adult offenders are similarly situated for purposes of section 3051 because both may outgrow the youthful impulses that led to their crimes. (*Acosta, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th at pp. 778-779.) Nevertheless, like *In re Williams*, *Acosta* held that there is a rational basis for the legislative classifications based on the severity of crimes that call for a sentence of life without parole. (*Id.* at p. 780.) The court recognized that “[a]rguably an LWOP offender and a non-LWOP offender are equally capable of gaining maturity,” but reasoned that the Legislature’s distinction between the two is a policy determination that may not be disturbed under rational basis review. (*Id.* at p. 781.) Several

other courts have reached the same conclusion employing similar reasoning. (See *Morales, supra*, 67 Cal.App.5th at pp. 347-348; *Murray, supra*, 68 Cal.App.5th at p. 464; *Sands, supra*, 70 Cal.App.5th at p. 204.)

The conflict between the Court of Appeal's decision below and these other published decisions will continue to arise. The People estimate that a substantial number of inmates serving life-without-parole terms would be eligible for youth offender parole hearings under the Court of Appeal's reasoning, many either immediately or in the near future. The issue is important both because of its broad impact and because of its potential consequences in determining parole eligibility for serious offenders. And it has produced a conflict in the lower courts that should be resolved for the sake of uniformity. The Court should therefore grant plenary review in this case in the event it concludes that a grant-and-hold behind *People v. Williams*, No. S262229, is inappropriate. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be granted.