IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLI	Ю.
------------	----

Plaintiff and Respondent,

S277487

 \mathbf{v} .

TONY HARDIN,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Seven, No. B315434 Los Angeles County Superior Court, No. A893110 The Honorable Juan C. Dominguez, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

WILLIAM L. HEYMAN Attorney at Law State Bar Number 59021 3152 Big Sky Drive Thousand Oaks, CA 91360 (805) 908-9931 william_l_heyman@msn.com

Attorney for Appellant, Tony Hardin

INTRODUCTION

On October 18, 2022, the Court of Appeal for the Second Appellate District, Division Seven (the "Court of Appeal"), filed its opinion in *People v. Hardin*, case No. B315434, certified for publication ("Opn." or the "Opinion"). In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal reversed the order of the trial court denying appellant's motion for a *Franklin*¹ hearing and remanded the cause with directions to schedule the hearing and to conduct all appropriate further proceedings not inconsistent with the Opinion. (Opn., at p. 25.)

The trial court had denied appellant's above motion (in which appellant argued that Penal Code section 3051 ("section 3051"), subdivision (h) violated the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment (e.g., Opn., at p. 6)) on the basis that appellant was statutorily ineligible for a youth offender parole hearing, ruling that subdivision (h) of section 3051 was "not unconstitutional as applied to persons sentenced to life without the possibility of parole" (Opn., at p. 6.) (Subdivision (h) of section 3051 provides that an individual who received a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for an offense committed after attaining the age of 18 is not eligible for a youth offender parole hearing. (Opn., at p. 2.) Appellant was convicted by jury

¹ People v. Franklin (2016) 63 Cal.4th 261.

in 1990 in this case of special-circumstance felony murder for a crime committed when he was 25 years old. (Opn., at pp. 2, 5.) He was sentenced to a state prison term of life without the possibility of parole for that special-circumstance murder, and the judgment was affirmed on appeal. (Opn., at pp. 5-6.))

On this appeal, appellant argued in appellant's opening brief ("AOB") that the superior court erred, to his prejudice, in denying his motion for record development hearing, in part on the basis that section 3051 violates his constitutional right to equal protection (AOB 25-32).

In the Opinion, the Court of Appeal held that denying a youth offender parole hearing to individuals sentenced to life without parole for offenses committed when they were between the ages of 18 and 25 violates equal protection (Opn., at p. 13) and in that regard held in part that young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole are similarly situated to all other young adult offenders for purposes of section 3051 (Opn., at p. 17) and that there is no rational basis for distinguishing between young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole and other young adult offenders for purposes of section 3051 (Opn., at p. 19).

In the Petition, the People argue that the reasons for granting review are that this case should be held behind *People v. Williams* (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 475 ("*Williams*"), review granted July 22, 2020, S262229 (the Petition, at p. 13), and, alternatively,

that this Court should grant review and conduct plenary review and resolve an important issue that has produced a conflict in published authority (the Petition, at p. 13). Those arguments or issues are responded to herein in turn.

ARGUMENT

- I. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PEOPLE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW
 - A. Williams is not a proper lead case for a grant-and-hold grant of review in this appeal.

In *Williams*, the defendant was convicted by jury in part of sex crimes against two women committed when he was 24 years of age and was sentenced to 100 years to life plus 86 years two months. (*Williams*, *supra*, 47 Cal.App.5th at pp. 478, 489.) On appeal, he claimed in part that his equal protection rights had been violated because he was statutorily ineligible for a youth parole hearing under section 3051 as a result of being a one-strike offender. (*Williams*, *supra*, 47 Cal.App.5th at pp. 478-479.) The reviewing court (Fourth Appellate District, Division One) rejected that claim and affirmed the judgment. (*Id*. at p. 479)

The reviewing court in *Williams* assumed for its analysis that the defendant had shown that he was similarly situated.

(Williams, supra, 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 489.) It concluded that it believed "that the threat of recidivism by violent sexual offenders—as demonstrated by the Legislature's enactment of several comprehensive statutory schemes to curb such recidivism among such offenders—provides a rational basis for the Legislature's decision to exclude one-strikers from the reach of section 3051. [Citations.]" (Id. at p. 493.) And: "Given the deferential standard we apply . . . and given our view that the risk of recidivism provides a rational basis for the Legislature to treat violent felony sex offenders sentenced under the one-strike law differently than murderers or others who commit serious crimes, we reject defendant's equal protection challenge to subdivision (h) of section 3051." (Ibid.; and see id. at pp. 491-493, discussing the Legislature's concern over recidivism of violent sex offenders.)

And this Court, in granting review in *Williams*, in framing the issue to be briefed and argued, limited the class of defendants to "young adults convicted and sentenced for serious sex crimes under the One Strike law (Pen. Code, § 667.61)" (Appellate Courts Case Information, Supreme Court, S262229, People v. Williams, Docket https://appellatecases.courtinfo.ca.gov/search...>).

The instant case is very different. Unlike *Williams*, this is a life-without-the-possibility-of-parole case, and recidivism does not figure in this case. There is no indication that prior

criminality was alleged in this case. (E.g., Opn., at pp. 5-6). Appellant was a security guard at the time of his crimes in this case. (E.g., respondent's brief in this appeal, at pp. 10-11.)² The probation officer's report in this case indicates, with respect to prior record, (a) that appellant's juvenile record was that he admitted that at age 17 he was arrested for possession of marijuana and as a result he was ordered to pay an \$80 fine, and (b) that appellant had no adult history of crime. (1CT 19)

Therefore, the basis for the decision in *Williams*, that because of the Legislature's concern with respect to recidivism of violent sex offenders as demonstrated by its multiple related enactments, there was a rational basis for the Legislature's treating violent felony sex offenders differently from murderers or others who commit serious crimes (*Williams*, supra, 47 Cal.App.5th at p. 493), is absent from this case. Consequently, *Williams* is not an appropriate lead case for a grant-and-hold grant of review in this appeal, and the Petition should be denied.

² In AOB, appellant took the Statement of Facts verbatim from the Court of Appeal's nonpublished opinion in appellant's direct appeal in this case, case No. B051873, filed July 19, 1993 (e.g., AOB 11 & fn. 2). Appellant filed in conjunction with AOB, in the Court of Appeal, a motion to take judicial notice of pages 1 through 5 of that opinion and the contents thereof, and that motion was denied on April 7, 2022 as "unnecessary." Thereafter, that opinion was cited in respondent's brief in this appeal, on page 11, as the basis for the Statement of Facts.

B. The Court of Appeal's holdings in the Opinion referred to in this division B are correct.

The Court of Appeal's holding that young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole are similarly situated to all other young adult offenders for purposes of section 3051 (Opn., at pp. 17-19) is correct, and it has decisional backing (*People v. Sands* (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 193, 202-203 [reviewing court assumed that young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole are similarly situated to young adult offenders sentenced to de facto life without parole for the purpose of section 3051]; *People v. Acosta* (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 769, 772, 778-779 [holding that young adult LWOP (life-without-the-possibility-of-parole) offenders are similarly situated to young adult offenders sentenced to life for the purpose of section 3051]).

And the Court of Appeal's holding that there is no rational basis for distinguishing between young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole and other young adult offenders for purposes of section 3051 (Opn., at pp. 19-25) is also correct.

The Court of Appeal gave that sub-issue a long, thoughtful, well-reasoned discussion, pointing out the Legislature's own statement of the goal of section 3051 (Opn., at p. 19) and what this Court has stated about a life without parole sentence (Opn., at p. 20), analyzing and refuting the bases on which courts have rejected the no-rational-basis argument (Opn. at pp. 20-24), and dealing

with the Attorney General's proceeding-incrementally suggestion (Opn., at pp. 24-25). The Court of Appeal's conclusions are sound.

Thus, the Court of Appeal's overall holding in the Opinion, that denying a youth offender parole hearing to individuals sentenced to life without parole for offenses committed when they were between the ages of 18 and 25 violates equal protection (Opn., at p. 13), is also correct.

Therefore, it would be inappropriate for this Court to grant plenary review in this matter, and the Petition should be denied.

C. The main sub-issue in the Opinion is not ripe for plenary review.

The main sub-issue in the Opinion, whether there is a rational basis for distinguishing between young adult offenders sentenced to life without parole and other young adult offenders for purposes of section 3051 (Opn., at pp. 19-25), has not been sufficiently developed in courts of appeal opinions to warrant review. No case has cited the Opinion. And the Court of Appeal did not cite in the Opinion at least one case on each side of that sub-issue (Opn., at pp. 19-25), unlike in, for example, Williams (Williams, supra, 47 Cal.App.5th at pp. 491-493 [discussing and contrasting the holdings in People v. Edwards (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 183, on one side of the issue being decided in Williams, and People v. Bell (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 865, on the

other side of that issue). This Court should await the filing of

more courts of appeal opinions on both sides of the rational-basis

sub-issue relating to defendants who as young adult offenders

were sentenced to life without the possibility of parole before

granting review on that sub-issue. Therefore, the Petition should

be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, appellant respectfully asks

this Honorable Court to deny the Petition.